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Inside this issue: 

More Tales of the IB&O 

The Irondale Bancroft and Ottawa Railway is 

a legend in local lore. This railway ran from 

Howland Junction to Bancroft. The Ottawa 

terminus never happened: it was just a fanta-

sy. But this fact should not deter from the 

importance of this railway to local history. 

The Gazette has featured several articles on 

this railway, but the stories just keep coming. 

Here are some more ñstoriesò about the Great 

IB&O. 

In the pre-snow plow days (before 1930), the 

railway lines were often the only access 

roads kept snowplowed. The railways simply 

bolted a huge snow plow on the engine to 

keep the tracks clear. There was no snow 

plow special; the regular train moved the 

snow. A century ago there were fewer trees 

to act as wind blocks, and (supposedly) more 

snow in winter so the railways dealt with 

some pretty massive snow drifts. It was not 

unusual for trains to get stopped by monster Get Results! 
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drifts and have to back up and hit the 

drifts again (and again). At the worst of 

times, it was necessary to break out the 

shovels.  

Local residents often used the rail line as 

a plowed road in winter; whether the 

transport was on foot or by horse. One 

time the train caught up to a farmer haul-

ing a load of wood along the plowed 

tracks. The train stopped and the crew 

helped the farmer get his load of wood off 

the tracks. After passing, the crew stopped 

a second time and helped the farmer and 

load back onto the tracks! Now thatôs 

service! 

The IB&O met a special train sent from 

the Grand Trunk Railway Lindsay at 

Howland Junction. One wintry day, the 

Lindsay train became stuck in a particu-

larly nasty snow drift at Howland and had 
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WINTERFEST 

Annual kinmount Winterfest  
 

 
February 21:  Family Snowflake Ball  

Kinmount Community Centre  6:30 - 9:00 PM  

 

February 22: Pancake Breakfast  

Kinmount Community Centre  8:00 AM - 11:00 AM  

 

February 22: Family festival  

Kinmount Arena ¹Fairgrounds   11:00 AM ¹3:00 PM  

¶ HORSE-DRAWN SLEIGH RIDES 

¶ DOWNHILL DASHðDECORATED TOBOGGAN  RACE 

¶ CHILDRENôS GAMES 

¶ SNOWSHOEING  GUIDEDTRACKING TREK 

¶ SNACK BAR 

¶ BONFIRE 

¶ SKATING 

¶ BROOMBALL 

¶ ANTIQUE SNOWMOBILES 

¶ EXHIBITORS 

For information:  Call 705-488-2961 (Julie) 

Follow us on Twitter @kinmount     www.kinmount.ca 

WEAR RED AND WHITE TO CELEBRATE!!! 
SPONSORED BY KINMOUNT COMMITTEE FOR PLANNING AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 



sign, but were arranged artisti-

cally on their lots to break up the 

ñrow houseò appearance.  The 

bungalows had full basements 

and were quite modern for the 

era (1950s). These new houses 

were for miners only; separate 

subdivisions were set up for 

company executives at Bicroft 

Heights and Bow Lake.  

The homes were company 

owned and rented to miners. If 

you changed companies, you had 

to change houses! The Bicroft 

town plan called for churches 

and a school, but no commercial 

section.  Two churches and the 

school were built, but the village 

missed having retail stores. 

Since the land was company-

owned, nobody could build 

stores. The solution was to open 

small businesses in some base-

ments. There were 2 such con-

venience stores and a post office 

located in basements. The post 

office was called Cardiff. A doc-

tor opened an office (again in a 

basement) and the Bicroft Mu-

nicipal office occupied another 

building. Since many of the min-

ers were veterans, a Royal Cana-

dian Legion branch was the first 

community hall. 

Most of the residents of Cardiff 

were forced into Bancroft for 

shopping. A new extension for 

the Monck Road (then Highway 

#121) was built straight west to 

meet Highway # 28 at Paudash 

Lake.  The township of Cardiff 

had a change in municipal 

boundaries. The original town-

ship was subdivided into 2 mu-

nicipalities: the Township of 

Cardiff and the Improvement 

District of Bicroft. The mines 

and the village were placed in 

the new District to meet govern-

ment (mining land use) regula-

tions. The boundaries were very 

erratic.  

Mining towns are fickle commu-

nities. Mining follows a boom 

and bust cycle, and the cycles 

can be total bust. The uranium 

boom started in 1955 and was 
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Cardiff Township is the east-

ernmost township in Halibur-

ton County. It is so far east of 

the Haliburton-Minden axis 

that its history is more closely 

tied to Bancroft and Hastings 

County. The township never 

contained any large villages, 

even though it contained post 

offices at Kiddôs Corners, 

Cheddar, Highland Grove and 

Paudash. None of these settle-

ments became large centres. 

The township even had access 

to two colonization roads 

(Monck Road and Burleigh 

Road) and the IB&O Railway.  

It looked like there would be 

no large villages in Cardiff 

Township. But in the 1950s, 

all that dramatically changed.  

In 1946, uranium was discov-

ered in many places in Cardiff 

Township and in neighbour-

ing Hastings County. There 

was a mining rush as several 

large mining companies be-

gan mines. Huge numbers of 

experienced miners were sud-

denly brought in to work in 

the area. Many of these new 

arrivals had families and re-

quired accommodation. The 

old fashioned temporary bunk 

houses were not suitable, and 

there was no surplus of hous-

ing in the area. The solution 

was a new town called Bi-

croft. 

The site selected was at the 

junction of the Monck Road 

and McGillvray side road 

close to the Haliburton-

Hastings County boundary. 

The site was rather swampy 

and tons of fill was required; 

but it was flat (rather unusual 

topography for Cardiff Town-

ship). Within a few years 232 

houses were built on the site. 

Of these 150 homes were 

built for the Bicroft Mine 

employees and 50 for the Dy-

no Mines workers. These 

were the two largest compa-

nies with mines nearby. The 

houses were all the same de-

finished in a few 

short years. The 

Dyno Mine closed 

in 1960 and the 

Bicroft Mine in 

1963. Most of the 

miners moved 

away. Local resi-

dents were wor-

ried Cardiff Vil-

lage would be-

come a ghost 

town. Rumours 

spread the compa-

nies would bull-

doze their homes. 

Panic spread 

among the Cardiff 

residents. But Car-

diff was destined to 

move on. Dyno 

Mines had man-

aged to sell its 50 

homes to private 

individuals. Bicroft 

Mines sold its houses in a lot to 

Bowes And Cocks Reality com-

pany. The houses had cost 

$10,500 to build in 1956 and 

were sold to the Realtor for 

$4,500. Bowes and Cocks put on 

a heavy marketing campaign, 

concentrating on retirement age 

seniors. Eventually all the hous-

es were sold and the community 

saved from destruction.  Cardiff 

attracted many retirees, but there 

was also a large number of fami-

lies with school age children 

who kept the school open to this 

very day.  

Cardiff village became a satellite 

community. A new Legion, post 

office  and community centre 

joined the 2 churches and the 

school. A general store was located 

along the highway. Bicroft district 

was dissolved and merged with the 

original Township of Cardiff, 

building a new township office at 

the site. Later Cardiff Township 

was amalgamated into the Munici-

pality of Highlands East (with 

Monmouth and Glamorgan). And 

the village of Cardiff was saved 

from oblivion to carry on today.  
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Don Corneil Here 

The Kinmount Tartan 
Menôs Cap - Tartan Scarf  

Tammy - Menôs Tie  

Available at Kinmount Artisans Marketplace or 
Contact Diane at 705-488-2635 

 Minden      Family Dentistry 

FULL DENTURES 

PARTIAL DENTURES 

RELINES AND REPAIRS 

Orthodontics / TMJ 

Sleep Apnea  

General Dentistry 
 

705 - 286 - 2522  
 

Dr. Steven Zaichuk, D.D.S. 

  

12281 Hwy. 35 

at Bobcaygeon Road 

Our community lost a friend and great 

supporter with the passing of Don 

Corneil.  Don donated his time and 

talents to 12 of the Annual Dinner/

Auctions helping to raise thousands of 

dollars for Kinmount projects. 

CORNEIL, Donald Charles ~ 

Passed away suddenly with family 

by his side at the Regional Medical 

Center Bayonet Point in Hudson 

Florida on Friday, January 9th, 

2015 at the age of 73. Don was the 

beloved husband of Sheila Corneil 

(nee Murphy) of 49 years. Loving 

father of son Greg Corneil and 

wife Darlene Corneil, daughter 

Colleen Corneil. Cherished grand-

father of Greer and Everitt Corneil. 

Loving brother of Lynda and Dave 

Grier, Nancy and Mike Herr, Allan 

Corneil. Loving brother-in law of 

Rita and the late Ferg Murphy, 

Eileen and the late Harold Murphy, 

Rita and Richard Woodley, Susan 

and the late Pat Murphy. Remem-

bered by many nieces and neph-

ews. Donations to the Restoration 

Fund of St Mary's Church in Lind-

say or a charity of your choice.  

We are excited to announce that the 

Kinmount Gazette has moved 

downstream and is now available 

for pick-up outside of the Burnt 

River Library and Post Office.  

Weôd love to receive any news sto-

ries and pictures from our neigh-

bours.  Submissions can be for-

warded to any Gazette staffer or 

kinmountgazette@hotmail.com  

Box 329 Minden 

Ontario K0M 2K0 

New BR Location! 
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More Tales of the IB&0 Continued from p. 1 

to drop the snow plow to free itself. The 

Lindsay crew decided to continue back to 

Lindsay and return the next day with 

heavy equipment to free the plow. When 

they returned next day, the snow plow 

was gone! Evidently the IB&O owner, 

Charles J Pusey had heard about the 

ñabandonedò snow plow and sent a crew 

to liberate it. (Evidently the laws of sal-

vage were applied along the IB&O!) Like 

the pirates of old, the IB&O crew used the 

snow plow for several months until ru-

mours reached Lindsay on the wherea-

bouts of the missing machinery. The GTR 

sent a crew to Irondale to reclaim their 

property. To make a point, the Lindsay 

office of the GTR sent a bill to Pusey for 

ñrentalò of the plow. To make his point, 

Pusey sent a bill to the GTR for rescuing 

the plow from the drifts in the first place. 

Touche!  

Children rode the railway for half-fare.  

One day at Howland Junction, a woman 

and a ñrather large childò disembarked to 

meet the Lindsay train. On inspection, the 

boy had a childôs half-fare ticket. The 

conductor questioned the ticket : 

ñThis boy of yours is far too big for a half-

fare ticket!ò 

The woman replied ñWell maybe he is, but 

he wasnôt when he left Baptiste Lake. Heôs a 

growing lad and yours is a slow train.ò 

It was often stated the IB&O ran by calendar 

instead of schedule. It was notoriously slow, 

often averaging about 20 miles per hour. 

Unscheduled stops were frequent (see previ-

ous story about farmer on the tracks) and the 

IB&O was often late meeting the GTR train 

at Howland. Pusey advertised his passenger 

service in 1906 under the tag line: ñLeave 

Bancroft at 11:00 am, be in Toronto by 9:00 

pmò (same day!) To meet this schedule was 

a challenge. The GTR was constantly argu-

ing with the IB&O over late trains. Some-

times the problem was based on run-down or 

broken equipment.  After one frustrating 

stretch of missed trains, a correspondent 

from Highland Grove commented ñEngine 

number 2 is still out for repairs, but all is 

not lost. John Train of Kinmount is still on 

the Road!ò John Train owned a veli-

ciopede: a 3 wheel bicycle-style contrap-

tion for use on rails (see photo). Evidently, 

he ran up and down on the tracks. This 

service was clearly more reliable! 

Hand cars were also extensively used. In 

the early days, these were hand powered, 

but later gas engine models appeared. 

Since the IB&O track was only used every 

other day, the track was open for (public?) 

use. Locals frequently ñacquiredò a hand 

car to travel on their own pleasure. Gor-

don Barr of Gooderham tells the story of 

one winterôs night the locals decided to 

attend a dance in Tory Hill. A group of 

teenagers commandeered a hand car and 

set off up the line. Along the way, his 

younger sister fell off the car. They 

stopped, picked her out of the snow bank, 

and continued on. Presumably, they  

returned by the same method. Try that 

today! 

completed the section to Irondale by 1883 

and switched his mining operations north 

to the renamed village. Over the next 2 

decades the IB&O was gradually extended 

to Bancroft by 1911, actually it reached 

York Station north of Bancroft where it 

linked with the Central Ontario Railway 

(COR).  

Howland Junction became the southern 

terminus of the great IB&O. Three times a 

week a mixed train came from Bancroft 

down the line to meet a special train from 

Lindsay. The IB&O train met the special 

train from Lindsay and then ascended the 

line back north. A typical schedule for 

1923 had the IB&O train leaving Bancroft 

at 11:00 am. It was 54 miles from Ban-

croft to Howland Junction with an esti-

mated time of arrival at 1:45 pm. (Good 

luck with that!) Along the way, the train 

stopped at Baptiste, Highland Grove, Wil-

berforce, Tory Hill, Gooderham and Iron-

dale.  It could also stop at any number of 

flag stations along the route if there were 

customers there. At the other end of the 

route, the Grand Trunk Railway dis-

patched a special train to Howland Junc-

tion from Lindsay @ 11:35 am. This train 

crossing the Burnt River, the line followed 

the south bank of the river. It was said 

Myles tramway did not use steel rails, but 

ran on hardwood rails! After 2 years, 

Myles ran out of money.  The records are 

very obscure: Myles tramway may have 

been built illegally! It is doubtful if he 

shipped any iron ore out via the tramway. 

He then sold his operations to the famous 

Irondale Magnate, Charles J Pusey. He 

renamed the site Howland Junction after 

his partner and son-in-law J.B. Howland.  

The new railway was originally named the 

Toronto & Nipissing Eastern Extension 

Railway. After a lot of inactivity, the 

tramway was upgraded and renamed the 

Irondale, Bancroft and Ottawa Railway, 

affectionately nicknamed the IB&O. 

Myles Junction was renamed Kinmount 

Junction and then Howland Junction. The 

charter called for the line to run from 

Howland Junction to Irondale, and then 

northeast to Bancroft and hence on to Ot-

tawa, likely meaning a spot on the Ottawa 

River. It was a very, very optimistic plan. 

The Howland to Furnace Falls section was 

quickly realized to bring out the iron ore 

being smelted at Furnace Falls. Pusey then 

Howland Junction itself started off as a flag 

stop on the Victoria Railway in 1877. The 

original name was Kendrickôs flag stop, 

Kendrick being a local settler. In 1876 Wil-

liam Myles entered the race to develop the 

iron ore mines at Furnace Falls. His plan 

was to build a tram line (or railway?) from 

Furnace Falls to the closest part of the new 

Victoria Railway at Kendrickôs. The name 

of the junction was changed to Myles Junc-

tion. It was only 2 miles from Kinmount 

Station, which didnôt justify a flag station, 

so it was apparent at the time that big plans 

were afoot to build a branch railway east to 

Furnace Falls. Myles borrowed $60,000 

and began to build a tram way from the 

junction to Furnace Falls; a distance of 6.7 

miles. The line had to bridge the Burnt Riv-

er, but it was still the easiest way to access 

the Victoria Railway.  

The new line was named the Myles Branch 

Tramway. It was never registered as a rail-

way, so it must have been a Tram way. A 

tramway was not a true railway; and often 

consisted of trams or carts being hauled by 

horse power or steam tractor along a line. 

Myles had problems with several farmers 

over right of way through their lots. After 

Sides Roads of Kinmount:  Howland Junction 

Continued p. 13 
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Thursday Feb. 12 
Bus leaves Legion 

9 am                                   

Return 4 pm 

 

Cost $5 Includes Lunch 

Call 795-488-2669  to Reserve 

The Life of a Lumberman, Part 1 
Kinmount was a lumber town. In 

fact, most villages and towns in our 

area were lumber towns. Farming 

was a precarious calling all over 

the Ottawa-Huron Tract, but the 

communities could always count 

on lumbering to provide some eco-

nomic lift. The lumber industry had 

several strands. It provided direct 

employment via jobs in sawmills or 

jobs in the bush camps. The two 

were related; the sawmills operat-

ing almost exclusively during the 

summer and fall seasons. The lum-

ber camps operated only during the 

fall and winter seasons. A separate 

career in the lumber industry was 

river driving, which occupied a 

short season in the spring. Workers 

often only participated in one or the 

other of these activities. The lum-

ber industry was not a 12 month 

affair for most of its workers. 

The lumber industry also gave local 

farmers the opportunity to sell 

wood products off their properties 

to lumbermen big and small. Other 

settlers added to their income by 

cadging supplies with their horse 

teams. And any surplus produce for 

man or beast found a ready market 

among the lumbermen. 

Kinmount as a lumber town, had a 

large ñlabouringò segment. Most of 

the workers were mill workers who 

worked in the several mills in and 

around the town. They would be 

employed for between 6 and 9 

months and laid off during the 

height of the winter season. They 

could find employment cutting 

timber in the woods, but the jobs 

often overlapped. Most of the 

ñshantymenò or lumberjacks who 

went to the camps were young, 

single men, often from farms. The 

mill workers usually had families 

and homes and didnôt want to dis-

appear for 4 months in the winter. 

The river drivers were a subset all 

their own; mostly shantymen who 

took their log drive all the way to 

the mill. Not all shantymen accom-

panied the log drives; it took skill 

to drive logs.  

The census of 1911 provides an 

interesting glimpse of Kinmount  

employment in the lumber industry.  

The census listed the occupations of 

Kinmount and area residents. The 

area contained 204 workers 

(excluding farmers).  Of these work-

ers, 127 earned a living in the lum-

ber industry. The breakdown was as 

follows:   

Shantymen or workers at the lumber 

camps ï 67 

Sawmill workers ï 42 

River Drivers ï 14 

Mill owners and managers ï 6 

The different occupations were 

clearly separated on the census. Kin-

mount was a lumber town! 

The lumber industry in our area of 

Ontario (Ottawa-Huron Tract) had 

several distinct eras. The first era 

lasted from about 1850 to 1880. 

Before 1850, the lumber industry 

was concentrated in Southern Ontar-

io. There was lots of fine timber 

easily accessible south of the Ka-

wartha Lakes. The Ottawa-Huron 

Tract was left undisturbed because 

its resources were not needed (yet) 

and it was inaccessible. Logs could 

be floated south on our many water-

ways easily enough, but to operate 

successfully, the big lumber opera-

tions needed roads. To supply an 

average shanty for one season, be-

tween 100 and 200 wagon/sleigh 

loads of supplies were needed. The-

se supplies ranged from food for 

man and beast to hardwares of many 

sorts. And they all had to be 

ñcadgedò in by road or trail. Cadg-

ing required at least superficial trails 

from the supply centres such as 

Bobcaygeon or Fenelon Falls, that 

were accessible by boat, to the shan-

tys that were always set deep in the 

bush. Shantys were located as close 

as possible to the trees, not the 

cadge roads. 

The Bobcaygeon Road was a perfect 

arterial road, running from Bob-

caygeon deep into Haliburton  

County. The Road reached Kin-

mount in 1858 and Minden one year 

later. All along its route, side or 

secondary roads branched off both 

east and west to new settlements or 

depot farms. From the end of these 

roads, the true cadge road led to the 

actual lumber shanty, deep in the 

woods. These last roads were very 
Continued p. 6   


